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In the United States Court of Appeals

for the Ninth Circuit

No. 13827

National Laboe Relations Board, petitioner

v.

Trimfit of California, respondent

ON PETITION FOR ENFORCEMENT OF AN ORDER OF THE
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

BRIEF FOR THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD

JURISDICTION

This case is before the Court upon a petition of the

National Labor Relations Board for enforcement of its

order issued against respondent on December 2, 1952,

pursuant to Section 10(c) of the National Labor Rela-

tions Act, as amended. 1 The Board's decision and

order (R. 29-38) 2 are reported in 101 NLRB No. 137.

This court has jurisdiction under Section 10(e) of the

Act, the unfair labor practices in question having oc-

1 61 Stat, 136, 29 U.S.C., Supp. V, Sees. 151 et seq. The relevant

statutory provisions appear in the Appendix, infra, pp. 14-18.
2 Record references designated "R" refer to the record printed

pursuant to the rules of this Court. Whenever in a series of refer-

ences a semicolon appears, references preceding the semicolon are

to the Board's findings; succeeding references are to the supporting

evidence.

(1)



curred at respondent's mill in Anaheim, California,

within this judicial circuit.
3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The Board's Findings of Facts

The Board found that the respondent violated Sec-

tion 8(a) (5) of the Act by refusing to bargain with the

statutory representative of its employees, and Section

8(a)(3) by discriminatorily declining, after a shut

down and subsequent reopening of its plant, to reinstate

four employees. Since, in its answer to the Board's

petition for enforcement, respondent appears to con-

cede the validity of the 8(a) (3) findings and the pro-

priety of the Board's back-pay remedy in respect

thereto,
4 we shall not detail these findings. The sub-

sidiary facts upon which the refusal to bargain finding

rests may be summarized as follows

:

3 Respondent is a New York corporation, licensed to do business

in California, where it manufactures full-fashioned ladies' hosiery.

All of the merchandise produced by respondent is sold to Kramer
Bros., Inc., whose stockholders are substantially the same as re-

spondent's. Kramer Bros., Inc., after supervising the dyeing and
packaging of the hosiery, ships it to points located outside of Cali-

fornia. Annual out-of-state shipments exceed $100,000. Respond-
ent's annual purchases of nylon spun yarn, all of which is received

from points located outside the State of California, exceed $50,000.

(R. 114-116.) The Board's jurisdiction is not contested.

4 Thus respondent's answer (R. 698-703) merely requests that

the Court "modify" the Board's order "by striking therefrom those

portions of said Order quoted in Paragraphs I and V hereof" (R.

703). Paragraph I of respondent's answer (R. 698-699) challenges

the bargaining provisions of the Board's order; Paragraph V (R.

700-701) is specifically limited to that portion of the Board's 8

(a)(3) remedy which directs reinstatement, and the objection

thereto, as Paragraph VI reveals (R. 701-702), is based solely on
the ground that respondent has already offered such reinstatement to

the four employees discriminated against. Accordingly, respondent
has in effect consented to the enforcement of all portions of the

Board's order (R. 35-38) except 1(a), 2(a), and the reinstatement
part of 2(b).



A. Background

Eespondent established its plant at Anaheim, Cali-

fornia in the summer of 1950, and proceeded to install

six knitting machines under the supervision and direc-

tion of Carl Driess, an employee of the manufacturer

of the machines (R. 31, 46; 117-121). The erection of

the first machine began in July (R. 46; 426-427), two

were installed and in operation by mid-September (R.

46 ; 426-427, 440), and all six machines were erected and
in operation by May 1951 (R, 429). As each machine

was placed in operation, respondent assigned newly

hired employees to it, for each of the three working

shifts (R. 482-483).

In the meantime, union interest developed among
the employees in the plant (R. 46; 199-204). Thus, in

early December 1950, a committee of respondent's em-

ployees, including James Ludwig who had joined the

Union at his previous job, met and discussed organizing

plans and wage scales with Anthony J. Damm, presi-

dent of Local 43-B of the American Federation of

Hosiery Workers (R. 46-47; 154-155, 162-163). There-

after there were numerous meetings of employees with

Damm or other Union officials, which resulted in per-

fecting organizing details (R. 48; 156-157, 165).

On Sunday, January 21, the Union held an organi-

zational meeting at the American Legion Hall. By the

next day, a total of 22 of respondent's 36 production

and maintenance employees had signed either Union

authorization cards or a petition signifying their de-

sire to be represented by the Union. (R. 48 ; 156, 203-

206, 244, 465-467, 647-648.) On that day (January 22)

,

respondent laid off all but a few of its employees and

shut down its plant, in order to effect a major change



in its manufacturing process (R. 31-32, 48 ; 126, 129, 132,

137-139). However, the Union's majority among the

employees continued to increase, so that by January 29

it represented 28 production and maintenance workers

(R. 64; 465-467).

B. The refusal to bargain

On January 30, Theodore Spuller, the Union's dis-

trict manager, met with Robert M. Kramer, respond-

ent's secretary (R. 64-65; 140-142, 144, 330). Spuller

first told Kramer that he believed that the January 22

shut down was in reality a lock out. Kramer denied

this and assured him that as soon as the machines were

" changed over" the employees would be recalled. (R.

65; 142, 331.) Spuller then advised Kramer that the

Union represented a majority of respondent's em-

ployees and requested negotiation of a collective bar-

gaining contract (R. 65; 144-145, 330-334). Kramer's

only reply to this request was that "he felt the plant

was too small to have organization" and the Union
" should come back in another year or two [when] the

plant would be larger. '

' He did not raise any question

as to the numerical majority of the Union. (R. 66;

332.)

Spuller pointed out that the size of the plant was not

a relevant consideration, and suggested that Kramer
consent to a Board election for purposes of verifying

the Union's majority claim (R. 66-67; 333). Kramer
replied that this was a matter that would have to be

taken up with respondent's attorney (R. 67; 333-334)

.

5

The next meeting between representatives of re-

5 At the Board hearing, Kramer's recollection of what transpired

at this meeting was obscure. His most frequent answer to questions

about the conference was, "I do not recall" (R. 65, n. 26 ; 142-149)

.



spondent and the Union—which was occasioned by the

Union's filing of a petition for a representation election

—took place at the Board's Regional Office on Feb-

ruary 6. Kramer and Attorney Gitelson represented

respondent, Damm represented the Union, and a field

examiner of the Board was also present. (R. 67 ; 147,

160-161, 349-350, 591-592, 622.) At this meeting, the

Union repeated its claim of majority status and its de-

mand for recognition, Damm informing Kramer and

Gitelson "that we had a substantial majority of Trimfit

employees that had signed union cards, that these em-

ployees were asking for union recognition" (R. 67;

160-161, 170).
6 Gitelson suggested that the Union's

petition was poorly timed inasmuch as the plant was

then shut down and respondent was employing only

two or three persons (R. 67-68; 592, 621, 626). He
added, however, that as soon as the plant reopened and

a full complement of employees were again at work

respondent would consent to an election (R. 67-68 ; 592-

594). Accordingly, the Union agreed to withdraw its

petition for certification (R. 68; 167, 632, 685).

But, on the same day (February 6), respondent,

having just persuaded the Union that there were too

few employees to arrange an election, started to notify

each of its employees that it was about to resume oper-

ations, and specified that, beginning on February 8,

they might apply for "reemployment" (R. 62, 75-76;

28-29, 612). At the time these notices were sent out,

Superintendent Mittman conceded that he intended to

"rehire" all of the "former" employees who applied,

6 When questioned at the Board hearing concerning Damm's
claim of majority status, Kramer, as in the case of the January 30

meeting, "could not recall" any of the details (R. 150). Gitelson's

denial that Damm had made such a statement was not credited by
the Trial Examiner (R. 68; 594-595, 629).
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with the exception of James Ludwig and his wife Ruth

(R. 514, 578). Shortly thereafter (February 17), Em-
ployee Hubbard told Mittman that all of respondent's

employees, except three (Hubbard, his wife, and

Employee Reynolds) were members of the Union (R.

73; 659).

The plant opened in progressive stages, the em-

ployees being put back to work as the machines and

other equipment became ready for renewed operation

(R. 514-515). All of the "former" employees who ap-

plied were given jobs, with the exception of four

—

James Ludwig, his wife Ruth, Raymond Murphy, and

Dennis Fitzpatrick (R. 76; 19-20). The Board found

(R. 33-35, 75-94)—and respondent, in its answer to the

petition to enforce the order herein, does not dispute

the validity of such finding (n. 4, \p. 2, supra)— that

these employees were denied reinstatement because of

their activities on behalf of the Union.

On April 7, 1951—the plant again being in normal

operation—Union representative Ertel, in a letter to

respondent, made a third claim of majority status and

another bargaining demand (R. 68; 348-349, 414). A
meeting between the parties followed on April 12 at the

Board's Regional Office, attended by Ertel, Gitelson as

spokesman for respondent, and a Board field examiner

(R. 68-69; 415, 595-596). The discussion centered

around the unfair labor practice charge which the Un-

ion had filed (R. 3-5), alleging as violative of the Act

the January 22 shutdown and respondent's refusal to

recall the four employees previously mentioned (R. 69

;

598-599). Finally, Gitelson offered to enter into a

consent election agreement, such as the Union had

sought at the two previous meetings (R. 69 ; 598). Be-

cause this agreement would require that the Union



withdraw its unfair labor practice charges,7
the Union

refused the offer (E. 69; 417-418, 600, 634-635).

On April 16, Gitelson replied to the Union's written

request of April 7, and, after referring to the inter-

vening conference held on April 12, questioned for the

first time the Union's majority status (R. 69-70; 352-

357). He suggested, however, that, if the Union could

produce evidence that a "substantial portion" of the

employees were members of the Union, respondent

would stipulate to the holding of a consent election

(R. 70; 353). As of April 16, 1951, respondent had 30

employees on its payroll, of whom at least 14 had signed

Union membership cards ; this, of course, is exclusive

of the four Union members discriminatorily denied

reinstatement (R. 465-467, 511).

II. The Board's Conclusions and Order

Upon the basis of the foregoing the Board concluded

that respondent's production and maintenance em-

ployees constituted an appropriate unit for collective

bargaining, and that the Union, on and after January

22, 1951, represented a majority of the employees

therein (R. 62-64). The board further concluded that

—by its unqualified refusals to bargain with the Union

on January 30 and February 6, 1951, and its belated

questioning of the Union's majority coupled with in-

sistence upon a Board representation election (in

April)—respondent failed to satisfy the good faith

bargaining requirements of Section 8(a) (5) of the Act

7 It is settled Board policy that a representation election will not

be conducted while unfair labor practice charges are pending affect-

ing the unit involved in the representation proceeding. Columbia
Pictures Corp., 81 NLRB 1313, 1314-1315. Cf. S. H. Camp v.

N.L.B.B., 160 F. 2d 519, 525 (C.A. 6) ; N.L.R.B. v. McKesson &
Bobbins, Inc., 121 F. 2d 84, 94 (C.A. D.C.), cert, den., 314 U.S. 674.
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(R. 33, 71-75). In addition, the Board held that re-

spondent, on reopening its plant after the January 22

shutdown, violated Section 8(a) (3) of the Act by dis-

criminatorily denying reinstatement to Employees

James and Ruth Ludwig, Dennis Fitzpatrick and Ray-

mond Murphy (R. 33-35, 75-94).

The Board's Order (R. 35-38) requires respondent to

cease and desist from the unfair labor practices found,

and from in any other manner interfering with, re-

straining, or coercing its employees in the exercise of

rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act. Af-

firmatively, the Board's Order requires respondent to

bargain collectively with the Union upon request, to

offer reinstatement with back pay to the four employees

discriminated against, and to post an appropriate

notice.
ARGUMENT

As we have shown (n. 4, p. 2, supra) , respondent in ef-

fect concedes the validity of the Board's finding that, on

the reopening of its plant (commencing about Feb-

ruary 8, 1951), it refused to reinstate four employees

because of their role in the Union organizing campaign

which preceded the shutdown, and thereby violated

Section 8(a)(3) of the Act.8 Respondent merely re-

quests that this Court's decree enforcing the Board's

order modify said order in two respects: (1) by strik-

ing the provision requiring that the four employees

discriminated against be offered reinstatement because

respondent has already complied with this require-

ment; (2) by deleting the provisions requiring re-

spondent to bargain with the Union because the

Board's 8(a)(5) finding is not supported by the evi-

8 The substantial evidence amply supporting these findings is

summarized at R. 33-35, 75-95.



9

dence. The first contention is clearly insubstantial, for

it is well settled that compliance with provisions of a

Board order is no defense to the entry of an enforce-

ment decree with respect thereto.
9

Accordingly, only

the second contention remains for discussion, and we
now turn to it.

Substantial Evidence on the Record Considered as a Whole
Supports the Board's Finding that Respondent Refused to

Bargain in Violation of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act

The evidence set forth at pp. 3-7, supra, fully

substantiates the Board's conclusion that respondent

refused to bargain in good faith. It shows that on three

occasions—January 30, February 6, and April 7, 1951

—the Union advised representatives of respondent

that it represented a majority of the employees and re-

quested that respondent bargain collectively. On the

first two occasions—when the Union did in fact have

a majority 10— respondent's representatives did not

9 See N.L.R.B. v. Mexia Textile Mills, Inc., 339 U.S. 563; N.L.R.B.
v. Pool Mfg. Co., 339 U.S. 577; N.L.R.B. v. Ronney & Sons, No.
13,315 (C.A. 9), decided August 24, 1953, slip, opinion, pp. 13-14.

If, as respondent contends, it has already offered reinstatement

to the four employees, obviously any decree entered by this Court
would not be construed to require it to perform the same act again,

and, should compliance proceedings be subsequently brought, re-

spondent would have full opportunity to prove what it now alleges

respecting these offers.

10 On January 22, 1951, when the plant closed down for repairs,

at least 22 of respondent's 36 production and maintenance employees

had authorized the Union to represent them, and by January 29

the number had increased to at least 28 (pp. 3-4, supra) . As of Janu-

ary 30 and February 6, these employees had not been discharged

but were merely in the position of employees who temporarily had
been laid off; accordingly, they continued as "employees" of re-

spondent. See North Whittier Heights Citrus Ass'n v. N.L.R.B.,

109 F. 2d 76, 82 (C.A. 9) ; Marlin-Rockwell Corp. v. N.L.R.B., 116

F. 2d 586, 588 (C.A. 2) cert, den., 313 U.S. 594; N.L.R.B. v.

Somerset Shoe Co., Ill F. 2d 681, 686 (C.A. 1).

But for the four discriminatory refusals of reinstatement, this

Union majority would have persisted through the reopening of the
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question the Union's majority status but merely

sought to avoid the bargaining obligation with unmeri-

torious excuses. Thus Kramer responded to the Janu-

ary 30 bargaining request with the suggestion that the

Union should devote its organizing efforts to larger

plants; while Gitelson, although he had just partici-

pated in plans to reopen the plant that very week,

ducked the February 6 request on the ground that its

"timing" was bad since the plant was closed. Then,

in April, after having attempted to dissipate the

Union's majority by discriminatorily discharging four

employees, respondent, for the first time, informed the

Union that it doubted its majority, and suggested that

the Union's claim be substantiated in a Board election.

This pattern of conduct by an employer has repeat-

edly been held to constitute a violation of the Act's good

faith bargaining requirements.11 Respondent's conten-

tions do not impair the validity of this conclusion.

Respondent's principal contention before the Board

was that it was not obligated to bargain until the Union

had established its majority through a Board election.

It is settled law, of course, that an employer may in-

sist upon a Board election as a condition precedent to

recognition when he has a good faith doubt that the

union really represents a majority of the employees.

However, it is equally clear that, when an employer

has no bona fide reason for challenging the union's

plant. The record discloses that, as of April 16, 1951, at least 14 of

the 30 employees then working had signed Union cards (p. 7,

supra.)

.

11 See N.L.E.B. v. W. T. Grant Co., 199 F. 2d 711, 712 (C.A. 9)

;

Idaho Potato Growers v. N.L.R.B., 144 F. 2d 295, 307-308 (C.A. 9),

cert, den, 323 U.S. 769; N.L.R.B. v. Morris P. Kirk & Son, Inc., 151

F. 2d 490, 492 (C.A. 9) ; N.L.R.B. v. Kobritz, 193 F. 2d 8, 14 (C.A.

1) ; Joy Silk Mills, Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 185 F. 2d 732, 741-742 (C.A.

D.C.), cert, den, 341 U.S. 914.
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claim, his "duty to bargain . . . may arise in absence

of certification." Ioh v. Los Angeles Brewing Co.,

183 F. 2d 398, 405 (C.A. 9) . "Certainly it is not one of

the purposes of the election provisions [of the Act] to

supply an employer with a procedural device by which

he may secure the time necessary to defeat efforts to-

ward organization made by a union." Joy Silk Mills,

Inc. v. N.L.R.B., 185 F. 2d 732, 741 (C.A. D.C.), cert.

den., 341 U.S. 914.

The facts previously summarized afford no basis

whatever for concluding that respondent ever had a

bona fide doubt as to the Union's claim of majority.

In the first place, it did not question the Union's status

in the initial meetings of January 30 and February

6. Moreover, any conceivable doubt as to the Union's

majority which respondent might have had, although

never expressed, must have been removed by the

several discussions then Superintendent Mittman had

with Employee Hubbard, who had been in close touch

with the Union's campaign from its start. Thus Hub-

bard, who subsequently became the plant superin-

tendent, testified that he had informed Mittman that

"all of the employees in the mill belong to the Union

except three '

' (R. 73 ; 659) . And Mittman himself testi-

fied that previously, on the evening of the Union or-

ganizing meeting and the day before the shutdown,

he had discussed the meeting and the Union's cam-

paign with Hubbard and with Assistant Superintendent

Burley (R. 576-578). Finally, respondent's resort to

the drastic weapon of discharge in order to undermine

the Union's majority provides conclusive proof that

there was no good faith motive for the doubts which

it first expressed in April. In sum, here as in N.L.R.B.
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v. W. T. Grant Co., 199 F. 2d 711, 712 (C.A. 9) cert,

den., 344 U.S. 928, the "Board was not in error in find-

ing that the insistence upon an election was not moti-

vated by a good faith doubt of the Union's majority."

Nor is there merit to respondent's contention that the

Union in effect waived its claim of majority status,

and any bargaining demand based thereon, by subse-

quently suggesting a consent election and indeed, filing

a representation petition (see pp. 4-5, supra).

Where, as here, respondent's obligation to bargain

had already arisen absent certification, the mere pro-

posal of such procedural step cannot be deemed to

remove this duty. Thus, respecting the same contention,

the First Circuit, in language equally applicable here,

held that (N.L.R.B. v. Kobritz, 193 F. 2d 8, 14) :

It is true that the union, upon meeting such re-

fusal to bargain, first adopted the course of filing

a representation petition for certification by the

Board under Section 9 of the Act. Later this

representation petition was dismissed at the

union's own request. But the right of employees

to bargain collectively through an exclusive bar-

gaining representative is not conditioned upon an

antecedent certification by the Board where, as

here, the majority status of the union is clearly

established otherwise, and the employer has no

bona fide doubt of such majority status, but seeks

to delay bargaining negotiations while resorting to

various coercive tactics designed to dissipate the

union majority support. National Labor Rela-

tions Board v. Beed <& Prince Mfg. Co., supra;

National Seal Corp., 127 F. 2d 776 ; National Labor
Relations Board v. Franks Bros. Co., 137 F. 2d

989, aff'd. 321 U.S. 702; National Labor Relations
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Board v. Harris-Woodson Co., 162 F. 2d 97.

Cf. N.L.R.B. v. Howell Chevrolet Co., 204 F. 2d 79,

86 (C.A. 9).

In the light of all the foregoing, it follows that the

Board properly concluded that respondent's refusals

to bargain with the Union violated Section 8 (a) (5)

of the Act.
CONCLUSION

Accordingly, it is respectively submitted that the

Board's Order should be enforced in full.

George J. Bott,

General Counsel,

David P. Findling,

Associate General Counsel.

A. Norman Somers,

Assistant General Counsel,

Norton J. Come,

Thomas F. Maher,
Attorneys,

National Labor Relations Board.

September, 1953.
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APPENDIX

The relevant provisions of the National Labor Rela-

tions Act, as amended (61 Stat. 136, 29 U.S.C., Supp. V,

Sees. 151, et seq.), are as follows:

Rights of Employees

Sec. 7. Employees shall have the right to self-

organization, to form, join, or assist labor organi-

zations, to bargain collectively through representa-

tives of their own choosing, and to engage in other

concerted activities for the purpose of collective

bargaining or other mutual aid or protection, and
shall also have the right to refrain from any or all

of such activities except to the extent that such

right may be affected by an agreement requiring

membership in a labor organization as a condition

of employment as authorized in section 8 (a) (3)

.

Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 8. (a) It shall be an unfair labor practice

for an employer

—

(1) to interfere with, restrain, or coerce em-

ployees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed

in section 7

;

*****
(3) by discrimination in regard to hire or

tenure of employment or any term or condition

of employment to encourage or discourage mem-
bership in any labor organization:*****

(5) to refuse to bargain collectively with the

representatives of his employees, subject to the

provisions of section 9(a).
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Repeesentatives and Elections

Sec. 9. (a) Representatives designated or

selected for the purposes of collective bargaining

by the majority of the employees in a unit appro-

priate for such purposes, shall be the exclusive

representatives of all the employees in such unit

for the purposes of collective bargaining in respect

to rates of pay, wages, hours of employment, or

other conditions of employment: Provided, That
any individual employee or a group of employees

shall have the right at any time to present griev-

ances to their employer and to have such grievances

adjusted, without the intervention of the bargain-

ing representative, as long as the adjustment is not

inconsistent with the terms of a collective-bargain-

ing contract or agreement then in effect : Provided

further, That the bargaining representative has

been given opportunity to be present at such ad-

justment.

(b) The Board shall decide in each case whether,

in order to assure to employees the fullest freedom

in exercising the rights guaranteed by this Act, the

unit appropriate for the purposes of collective bar-

gaining shall be the employer unit, craft unit, plant

unit, or subdivision thereof

:

* # » * *

(c) (1) Whenever a petition shall have been

filed, in accordance with such regulations as may
be prescribed by the Board

—

(A) by an employee or group of employees or

any individual or labor organization acting in

their behalf alleging that a substantial number
of employees (i) wish to be represented for col-

lective bargaining and that their employer de-
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clines to recognize their representative as the

representative defined in section 9 (a),*****
the Board shall investigate such petition and if it

has reasonable cause to believe that a question of

representation affecting commerce exists shall

provide for an appropriate hearing upon due

notice. Such hearing may be conducted by an
officer or employee of the regional office, who shall

not make any recommendations with respect

thereto. If the Board finds upon the record of such

hearing that such a question of representation

exists, it shall direct an election by secret ballot and

shall certify the results thereof.*****
(4) Nothing in this section shall be construed to

prohibit the waiving of hearings by stipulation for

the purpose of a consent election in conformity

with regulations and rules of decision of the Board.*****
Prevention or Unfair Labor Practices

Sec. 10. (a) The Board is empowered, as here-

inafter provided, to prevent any person from en-

gaging in any unfair labor practice (listed in sec-

tion 8) affecting commerce. This power shall not

be affected by any other means of adjustment or

prevention that has been or may be established by
agreement, law, or otherwise :

* * *

(c) * * * If upon the preponderance of the

testimony taken the Board shall be of the opinion

that any person named in the complaint has en-

gaged in or is engaging in any such unfair labor

practice, then the Board shall state its findings of
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fact and shall issue and cause to be served on such

person an order requiring such person to cease and
desist from such unfair labor practice, and to take

such affirmative action including reinstatement of

employees with or without back pay, as will

effectuate the policies of this Act :
* * *

(e) The Board shall have power to petition any
circuit court of appeals of the United States (in-

cluding the United States Court of Appeals for the

District of Columbia), or if all the circuit courts

of appeals to which application may be made are

in vacation, any district court of the United States

(including the District Court of the United States

for the District of Columbia), within any circuit

or district, respectively, wherein the unfair labor

practice in question occurred or wherein such per-

son resides or transacts business, for the enforce-

ment of such order and for appropriate temporary

relief or restraining order, and shall certify and file

in the court a transcript of the entire record in the

proceedings including the pleadings and testimony

upon which such order was entered and the findings

and order of the Board. Upon such filing, the

court shall cause notice thereof to be served upon
such person, and thereupon shall have jurisdiction

of the proceeding and of the question determined

therein, and shall have power to grant such tempo-

rary relief or restraining order as it deems just and
proper, and to make and enter upon the pleadings,

testimony, and proceedings set forth in such tran-

script a decree enforcing, modifying, and enforcing

as so modified, or setting aside in whole or in part

the order of the Board. No objection that has not

been urged before the Board, its member, agent, or

agency, shall be considered by the court, unless the



18

failure or neglect to urge such objection shall be

excused because of extraordinary circumstances.

The findings of the Board with respect to questions

of fact if supported by substantial evidence on

the record considered as a whole shall be conclu-
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